
Agenda

Companies Scrutiny Panel

Date: Thursday 26 July 2018

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: Freemans' Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer produce 
paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. Paper copies may be looked at 
the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

Companies Scrutiny  Panel
Membership

Chair Councillor James Fry

Councillor David Henwood Councillor Craig Simmons
Councillor Tiago Corais Councillor Tom Landell Mills
Councillor Chewe Munkonge



AGENDA

Pages

1  APOLOGIES
Substitutions are not allowed.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

3  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 7 - 14
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2018 and 7 June 
2018.

4  APPOINTMENT OF FINANCE DIRECTOR TO THE BOARDS OF 
ODSL AND ODSTL
The Shareholder will be requested on 2 August to appoint Aled Bath, Finance 
Director, to the boards of Oxford Direct Services Limited and Oxford Direct 
Services Trading Limited. The Companies Panel are invited to note this 
appointment.

5  APPOINTMENT OF MAZARS AS EXTERNAL AUDITOR TO 
OXFORD DIRECT SERVICES
The Shareholder will be invited to confirm the appointment Mazars as 
External Auditors to Oxford Direct Services on 2 August. The Companies 
Panel are invited to note the appointment. 

6  REPORTS CONTAINING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT 
INFORMATION
Please note that the Oxford Direct Services Update Report is exempt from 
publication under the terms of Paragraph 3, Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  Accordingly, to consider this item, the Panel will 
be required to pass a resolution “That members of the public be excluded 
from the meeting on the grounds that their presence would involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.”

7  PRESENTATION BY SIMON HOWICK AND ALED BATH
To receive a presentation from Simon Howick and Aled Bath

8  OXFORD DIRECT SERVICES UPDATE REPORT 15 - 28
To consider an update report from Oxford Direct Services, which will be 
considered by the Shareholder Group on 2 August 2018. 

9  FUTURE MEETING DATES
Please note that some of these dates have been revised in recent months, 



and will need to remain flexible to the Shareholder reporting cycle:

11 September 2018 
26 October 2018 
12 December 2018 
3 January 2019 



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE COMPANIES SCRUTINY  PANEL

Wednesday 14 March 2018

COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Fry (Chair), Gant, Henwood and 
Chapman.

15. APOLOGIES

Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor Simmonds.

16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

17. HOUSING GROUP POLICIES: RENT AND LETTINGS; DEBT 
RECOVERY (RESERVED TO SHAREHOLDER)

Stephen Clark introduced the report, and explained that the rent and lettings, 
and debt recovery policies of Oxford City Housing Limited (OCHL) were all 
decisions reserved to the shareholder. A shareholder meeting was scheduled for 
20 March 2018 to adopt the draft policies. Key issues raised during the 
discussion included:

 Service level agreements were being developed in time for the first 
phases of development at the Barton site, which was scheduled for June 
2018. 

 The policies presented in the report were intended to broadly reflect the 
content of the policies adopted by the City Council. 

 The reference to calculating rent increases based on the 11 previous CPI 
indices would be better explained as the previous 11 months. 

 That any maximum rent price increases must be stated in the rent policy 
in order for OCHL to be able to raise rents. The maximum rent increase 
outlined in the policy was CPI + 6%. However, this was to allow for 
flexibility in the policy, and did not represent the actual increases that 
tenants would pay. 

 That service charge overpayments during any given year would be offset 
in the next years’ service charge. Only the cost of the service provided 
would be passed on to tenants.   

 Any tenant unable to pay their rent would be managed under the debt 
recovery policy. 

 Any personal debt written off under the policy would not affect an 
individual’s credit score.  

 Any person declared bankrupt could not be ‘written on’ and pursued for 
outstanding debts. 

7

Agenda Item 3



 The rent policy would need to be reviewed after HM Government issued 
guidance on the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, and the mandatory 
arrangements for flexible fixed term tenancies. 

 Council tenants placed in housing associations accommodation were 
granted lifetime tenancies. 

The Panel agreed to note the report. 

18. HOUSING GROUP BUSINESS PLAN 2017-18 - UPDATE

The Housing Development Manager provided the Panel with a presentation on 
nine housing development schemes and their planned start dates. These were:

 Harts Close – February 2019
 Cumberlege Close – June 2019
 Rose Hill Advice Centre – January 2020
 Rose Hill Community Centre – June 2019
 Warren Crescent – January 2020
 Elsfield Hall – April 2020
 Between Towns Road – May 2020
 Underhill Circus – late 2020
 Lucy Faithfull House – not yet programmed

The indicative programme allowed for a maximum of 243 dwellings to be brought 
forward between these sites. However, this would be likely to reduce after more 
detailed work was undertaken due to planning constraints which were likely to 
impede the capacity of some schemes. 

The Housing Development Manager highlighted key issues including:

 The archaeological significance of the Lucy Faithful House site had meant 
that detailed design work could not yet be undertaken, and a start date 
had not yet been identified. 

 Architects had been appointed for the nine schemes.  
 All of the schemes were on council owned land, and OCHL would 

commission building contractors to undertake the work. 
 The viability of Housing Schemes within the Company are measured 

against a number of criteria including: 
a) An internal rate of return of at least 4%.
b) Payback is within 40 years.
c) That the schemes would add value to OCHL. 

 Key risks associated with the proposals concerned building cost inflation 
and capacity to deliver the schemes whilst other major infrastructure 
projects were taking place. There was also a risk that interest rates of the 
Public Works Loan Board would increase, creating additional costs for 
OCHL. 

 Loans from the City Council are based on state aid compliant rates.

8



 There were opportunities in terms of; regenerating existing housing stock, 
the growth and housing deal, and OCHL’s borrowing capacity. 

The Panel made several observations and suggestions, including: 

 That the change from the original to the revised development programme 
showed a significant increase in outright dwelling sales and a decline in 
affordable rent dwellings. Officers highlighted that the tenure mix would 
change frequently depending on factors such as building costs and rates 
of return.

 It would be preferable for the design of new schemes to match the built 
environment in which they were set. 

 Concern over the sufficiency of the immediate parking allocation at Rose 
Hill, and the potential for overflow into surrounding roads. 

 The chart which details the original and revised development programme 
could be more accessible to the public by using a key to explain the 
abbreviations in future reports.  

 That the reference to capitalised interest could be interpreted in different 
ways. 

 Concern that the schemes being brought forward would require additional 
resource within the Planning Team. The Housing Development Manager 
explained that any additional work would be appropriately resourced. 

 Regret that only 2 of a potential maximum of 5 void dwellings were to be 
transferred to the OCHL in 2017/18, representing a missed opportunity for 
the company, which will have a detrimental impact on the finances of 
OCHL in the future. 

David Watt introduced the OCHL statement of profit, loss and comprehensive 
income. Key issues highlighted included:

 The Company revenue statement is in deficit for the early years of the 
Business Plan until revenue generation from the housing schemes 
materialises. 

 The financial forecasts would change over the course of the Plan period. 
 OCHL would be 100% funded through loan agreements with the City 

Council. 
 A private sector accountancy firm had been appointed to secure best 

value in OCHL’s tax planning arrangements.  
 In the long term, there was potential to develop a dividends policy to 

generate revenue income for the Council. 

The Panel agreed that it would be appropriate for the Scrutiny Committee to 
establish sub-panel arrangements in the new municipal year that enabled 
members to perform a timely review of Shareholder reports. The Scrutiny Officer 
would discuss this with the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee and others in due 
course. 

9



The Head of Finance agreed to circulate the external audit report of Binder Dijker 
Otte (BDO) to the Panel, which was considered by the Audit and Governance 
Committee on 12 March 2018, and the associated minutes. 

The Housing Development Manager agreed to circulate examples of the design 
work undertaken by the appointed architects to the Panel, and the Panel agreed 
to note the report. 

19. ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE - MATTERS EXEMPT FROM 
PUBLICATION 

20. HOUSING GROUP BUSINESS PLAN 2017-18 - UPDATE - EXEMPT

All aspects of this item were discussed in open public session.  

21. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record. 

The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 6.05 pm

10



MINUTES OF THE COMPANIES SCRUTINY  PANEL

Thursday 7 June 2018

COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Fry (Chair), Henwood, 
Simmons, Landell Mills, Corais and Munkonge.

22. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
The Chair, Councillor Fry, welcomed new and returning members, and asked all 
attendees to introduce themselves.  

The Chair explained that the principle of setting up Oxford City Housing Limited 
(“The Company”), with two separate subsidiaries, as a wholly owned Council 
company was to gain greater borrowing freedoms and control over the housing 
supply. A separate wholly owned council company, Oxford Direct Services 
Limited, was also established to run frontline commercial services for the 
Council. This again permitted greater freedoms in the commercial market. 

A director of the Company offered to meet new members of the Panel to provide 
more detail on the business of the Company, if requested. 

23. APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence.

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
The were no declarations of interest. 

25. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The Scrutiny Officer apologised that the minutes of the previous meeting were 
not included in the agenda, and these would be included in the agenda of the 
next Panel meeting on 31 July 2018. The Chair requested that this date be 
reviewed to suit member availability. 

26. HOUSING DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME - PROGRESS UPDATE
The Housing Development Manager provided the Panel with a presentation on 
eight housing development schemes, and said that these were a realistic view of 
the completion dates. These were:

• Harts Close – May 2019
• Cumberlege Close – Oct 2019
• Rose Hill sites – March 2020
• Warren Crescent – January 2020
• Elsfield Hall – April 2020
• Between Towns Road – July 2020
• Underhill Circus – late 2020
• Lucy Faithfull House – not yet programmed

11



It was explained that the BCIS Building Costs Index recorded a 13.4% rise in 
costs over the previous year which specifically affected the Barton Park 
affordable housing pricing mechanism, not the wider development programme.
Whilst significant, this rise was still within contingency parameters. The Housing 
Development Manager said the cost to the Council of purchasing the homes 
outlined in the development programme was below the cost it would be to build 
them. 

The Housing Development Manager outlined progress with the various sites:

Barton Park - The first homes were due to transfer to the Company in August 
2018, but slippage has taken place due to weather and other factors.

Harts Close – Plans for two three bed semi-detached homes were on track. The 
planning application was being finalised prior to submission in June 2018.

Elsfield Hall and Cumberlege – It was likely that the 9 units planned for 
Cumberledge would be 100% affordable housing. This site would be combined 
with Elsfield Hall to produce 50% affordable housing across the two sites. There 
was potential for the number of units at Elsfield Hall to extend to 23, with 17 
being the lowest expected level of delivery. OPT approval is required for the 
Cumberlege development under the terms of a covenant.

Rose Hill – The Scout Hut and Old Community Centre site had been combined 
due to their proximity. Issues with a memorial tree have been resolved and a 
redesign was underway due to pre-application feedback resulting in fewer 
homes on both sites than previously expected. A public consultation would be 
undertaken by the end of June 2018. The number of units deliverable across the 
two sites at Rose Hill had been revised down from 53 in March 2018 to 43 in 
June 2018.

Between Towns Road – There had also been a reduction in the number of 
deliverable units on this site from 46 in March 2018 to 30 in June 2018. This was 
due to a redesign following pre-application feedback. 

Lucy Faithfull House – Demolition was underway and projected to finish by the 
end of July 2018. Initial pre-application feedback indicated that a 18.2m high 
building would not be acceptable, therefore fewer homes would be provided than 
originally profiled. This would see a reduction in the number of deliverable units 
on this site from 53 in March 2018 to 39 in June 2018. This was in part due to a 
reduction in the number of floors permitted. 

Warren Crescent - Baseline water monitoring was continuing at the site and 
procurement of the build contract was due to start over the summer for a start on 
site in January 2019.

Underhill Circus - Work was underway to finalise the retail provision here and 
at Barton Park, and negotiations had begun on purchasing maisonettes above 
the shops.  It was clarified that redeveloping the existing retail offer at the site 

12



was within the Company’s scope, and the Company was not restricted from 
developing retail units, but their focus was housing. 

Members noted that previous assurances were given about the number of units 
that were deliverable, and the reduction was disappointing. 

In response, it was explained that architects are first commissioned to devise a 
scheme that maximises the number of deliverable units. As the designs make 
their way through the planning process, the number of units was usually revised 
down to adjust for planning restrictions. Furthermore, compared to most other 
planning authorities, Oxford has tighter controls on building elevation and 
densities. A reduction in the number from design to planning stage should 
therefore be expected in the majority of cases. The Council Board Member for 
Housing explained that the priority was to deliver as many affordable units as 
soon as possible, and delaying sites for the possibility of adding a few more units 
may make them unviable and risks pushing the scheme into the next financial 
year. 

Members asked whether the priorities of the Company and the Council aligned, 
suggesting that the Council’s ambition to maximise the number of units may 
compete with the Company’s aim to bring units forward as quick as possible. It 
was suggested that pressure within the company to meet revenue targets may 
not be conducive to maximising unit numbers. 

It was explained that the quicker that units were brought forward by the 
Company, the quicker the Council could begin receiving an income. Company 
directors stated that the ambitions of the Council and the Company remained 
aligned. 

Members of the Panel expressed concern about the decline in deliverable units 
across the sites, and asked whether this caused problems in terms of the Oxford 
Strategic Plan. Whereas the Company projected delivering 793 units in March 
2018, this had been reduced to 740 in June 2018. It was clarified that most of the 
units in the Company development programme were not allocated within the 
Oxford Strategic Plan. Also, the majority of the reduction was in the outright sale 
category (from 117 to 78), with the number of rental homes only reducing from 
658 to 656.  Therefore, the loss in revenue income would be limited. 

The Panel suggested that the Company might wish to explore opportunities for 
securing further medium size developments through the open market, to mitigate 
against the loss in outright sale numbers. It was clarified that there were 
contingency sites in the pipeline for later development. 

Members of the Panel suggested that in future, any presentations more clearly 
highlight data to show changes in the number of units expected to be delivered 
on a site, against the original architect’s projections.

The Housing Development Manager explained that two of the year’s five 
Housing Revenue Account acquisitions had already been identified that were 
capable of being extended or developed, with a particular priority being to build 

13



houses big enough to accommodate large families. In the case of the seven 
houses already transferred to the Company, 12 additional bedrooms were 
expected and six further three bed houses on the attached land. Consideration 
was also being taken on whether non-extendable developments could be 
acquired. The Panel expressed regret that only two of a potential maximum of 
five void dwellings were transferred to the Company in 2017/18.

It was clarified that there was no conflict of interest for members of the Panel 
who previously sat on the Planning Review Committee, given that the Panel only 
operated in a scrutiny capacity, and has no decision making powers. More 
broadly, the Council’s Head of Law and Governance explained that there was a 
clear separation of responsibility between the Company and the Council, and 
that no favour would be displayed in the planning process. 
 
Other issues explored included:

 Whether the Community Housing Model would be beneficial
 The potential for developing housing units above retail sites
 The Company is not restricted to buying land within the City limits 
 The Company’s ability to lock in material costs at a fixed price 
 That no major refurbishment plans on housing blocks were scheduled in 

the development programme
 That the Company was keeping a watching brief on whether HM 

Government will mandate the provision of the Right to Buy offer.

27. FUTURE MEETING DATES
The Panel noted the following meeting dates, which were scheduled for 6pm:
 
31 July 2018 
11 September 2018 
29 October 2018 
12 December 2018 
3 January 2019 

The Chair requested that attempts are made to reschedule the 31 July 2018 and 
29 October 2018 dates to better suit member availability. 

The meeting started at 6:00pm and Finished at 7:19pm

14



Document is Restricted

15

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes
	Minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2018
	Minutes


	8 Oxford Direct Services Update Report

